RECEIVED

02-17-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 1

Appeal No. 2014AP002230-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

COURTNEY J. JAMES, Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone), Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Did State's use of peremptory challenge to strike African-American male from venire constitute a **Batson**¹ violation?

The trial court answered no.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel would welcome oral argument should this Court determine that such argument would be helpful in addressing the issues presented in this brief.

Counsel believes that publication will not be warranted as this appeal involves the application of well-established law to a particular set of facts.

¹ **Batson v. Kentucky**, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986).

1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged James with 1)first degree recklessly endangering safety as a party to a crime and with use of a dangerous weapon and 2)first degree reckless homicide as a party to a crime and with use of a dangerous weapon. A-Ap.100-107. According to the criminal complaint, the case originated from an argument that took place on February 3, 2012, at around 11:48 a.m. to 12:05 p.m., outside an "X-Stream Wireless" store in Milwaukee, between Erosa James, who is James's brother, and a Shanata Packer. A-Ap.101. The argument involved Packer's accusation that Erosa James had burglarized her house and stolen a television set. A-Ap.101. During the course of the argument, a third person, Artaze Williams, intervened and engaged in a physical fight with Erosa James. AAp.101. After the fight, James took his brother to the emergency room at St. Joseph's Hospital in Milwaukee. A-Ap.103. Hospital video surveillance footage showed James arriving at the emergency room entrance at about 12:31 p.m., and then leaving the hospital alone at 12:40 p.m. AAp.103. The complaint further alleges that at about 1:28 p.m. police officers responded to a reported shooting at Packer's residence. AAp.102. The complaint alleges that while Packer was away from the residence, with her two children alone in it, somebody fired a number of gun shots into the front door shattering the door's glass window. A-Ap.102. Police recovered ten 9 millimeter casings and one fired bullet from the scene. AAp.102. The complaint further alleges that hospital video surveillance taken at 4:11 p.m, showed James, Erosa James, and their mother, Erica James, leaving the hospital emergency room and walking out to the parking lot. A-The complaint alleges that at about 5:20 p.m., police then responded to a shooting in the 2300 block of W. Vienna Street, Milwaukee, where they observed a car up on the sidewalk and stuck on a fence. A-Ap.103. Within the car, they found the body of a man, later identified as Artaze Williams, whose torso hung outside the driver's compartment on the sidewalk and whose lower body remained within the car. A-Ap.103. Police attempted life saving measures on Williams until the fire department An autopsy showed that Williams died from two arrived. A-Ap.104. gunshot wounds to his chest and leg. AAp.105. The complaint alleges that a Coria Stotts was with Williams in the car with when the shooting began. A-Ap.104. Stotts and Williams were parked in the car when Stotts saw a black male walking towards the car and pointing a medium sized black handgun at Williams. AAp.104. Williams allegedly pushed Stotts down onto the car's floor board and attempted to speed away. Stotts heard gunshots and heard Williams moan. A-Ap.104. Williams slumped over the steering wheel as the car continued to move at about 40 miles per hour. A-Ap.104. Stotts unsuccessfully tried to shift the car into park before jumping out of it. A-Ap. Stotts watched as the car crashed into the fence where police ultimately found Williams's body. A-Ap.104.

The case proceeded to a four day jury trial wherein the jury found James guilty of both counts as charged. A-Ap.108-109. After the preparation of a pre-sentence investigation report, the trial court sentenced James to seven and a half years confinement and five years extended supervision on the recklessly endangering safety charge, and thirteen and a half years confinement and five years extended supervision on the reckless homicide charge, consecutive. A-Ap.108-109. The trial court found James ineligible for both the Challenge Incarceration Program and the Substance Abuse Program. A-Ap.109. James timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed the undersigned counsel. These proceedings follow.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The jury venire consisted of 35 individuals. AAp.110-111. The venire included four African-American males identified as juror nos. 6, 14, 21 and 22, and two African-American females. A-Ap.115,118; 51:62,65. As jury selection proceeded, the State challenged three of the four male African-American jurors, juror nos. 6, 21 and 22 for cause. A-Ap.116-117; 51:63-64. The defense agreed with the State's motion as to juror nos. 6 and 22, and the trial court granted the State's motion as to such jurors. A-Ap.116-117; 51:63-64. The State then used two of its five peremptory strikes to eliminate the two remaining male African-American jurors, juror nos. 14 and 21. A-Ap.117; 51:64. James made a motion under Batson which challenged the State's peremptory strike of juror no. 14, Kevin G² A-Ap.114; 51:61. The State responded, in primary part, by explaining that it struck juror no. 14 because of a "reaction" he had during voir dire which led the State to believe that he could be "potentially hostile." A-Ap.118; 51:65. The trial court denied James's motion. A-Ap.123; 51:70. The trial court's specific findings appear in the appendix at pp.120-124. James will

_

² James did not challenge the State's peremptory strike of juror no.21. During voir dire, juror no. 21 expressed that he had "negative" feelings about "most" police officers, and that based on their employment, he would not find their testimony truthful. 51:20.

reference other facts later in this brief as such facts become relevant to the specific arguments made below.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's *Batson* analysis was erroneous both in its methodology and its conclusion, and requires a new trial.

A. Standard of review

Because the question of whether a prima facie case under **Batson** has been shown presents mixed questions of fact and law, a de novo review must be conducted. **United States v. Jordan**, 223 F.3d 676,686 (7th Cir. 2000); **Mahaffey v. Page**, 162 F.3d 481,484 (7th Cir. 1998); see also **United States v. Stephens**, 421 F.3d 503,513 (7th Cir. 2005)("We note initially that although deference is afforded fact findings in a **Batson** challenge, the prima facie determination is subject to de novo review.") A clearly erroneous standard of review applies to a trial court's factual findings made under **Batson**. See **United States v. Jordan**, 223 F.3d at 686, and **State v. Lamon**, 2003 WI 78,¶45, 262 Wis.2d 747, 664 N.W.2d 607.

B. Proper framework for **Batson** analysis

Peremptory challenges are part of the fabric of our jury system and allow parties to strike potential jurors "without a reason stated, without inquiry, and without being subject to the court's control." State v. Lamon, 2003 WI 78 at ¶23. However, peremptory challenges are subject to the commands of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. at 89. Purposeful racial discrimination in selection of the jury violates a defendant's right to equal protection because it denies the protection that a trial by jury is intended to secure. **State v. King**, 215 Wis.2d 295,300, 572 N.W.2d 530 (Ct. App.1997) (citing **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 86).³ A defendant of whatever race is entitled to a jury selected without discrimination. **State** v. Lamon, 2003 WI 78 at \$\int 28 \text{ n.5 (citing **Powers v. Ohio**, 499 U.S. 400, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed. 2d 411 (1991)). A prospective juror's right to equal protection is also violated when the juror is denied participation in jury service on account of race. **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 87. Jury selection procedures that purposefully exclude persons based on race undermine public confidence in the fairness of the justice system. Id. Wisconsin

³ In **J.E.B. v. Alabama**, 511 U.S. 127,129, 114S.Ct. 1419, 128 L.Ed.2d 89 (1994) the Court extended **Batson** to include gender-based challenges.

courts have adopted the **Batson** principles and analysis. See **State v. Lamon**, 2003 WI 78 at ¶22; **State v. King**, 215 Wis.2d 295,300-301, 572 N.W.2d 530 (Ct. App.1997); and **State v. Davidson**, 166 Wis.2d 35,39-40, 479 N.W.2d 181 (Ct. App. 1991), petition for review denied. Batson outlines a three-step process for determining whether a prosecutor's peremptory strikes violate the Equal Protection Clause. See **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 96-98. First, the defendant must make out a prima facie case "by showing that the totality of relevant facts gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose." Johnson v. California, 545 U.S. 162,168, 125 S.Ct. 2410, 162 L.Ed.2d 129 (2005) citing **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 93-94. Second, once the defendant has made out a prima facie case, the "burden shifts to the State to explain adequately the racial exclusion" by offering permissible race-neutral justifications for the strike. **Id**. Third, "[i]f a raceneutral explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide...whether the opponent of the strike has proved purposeful racial discrimination." **Id**. Wisconsin courts have interpreted **Batson** and **J.E.B**. to preclude striking a juror based on a prohibited characteristic even if other non-prohibited

-

⁴ Of course, Wisconsin courts have recognized **Batson**'s application to claims of gender discrimination in jury selection. See **State v. King**, 215 Wis.2d 295,300-301, 572 N.W.2d 530 (Ct. App.1997) and **State v. Jagodinsky**, 209 Wis.2d 577,579-80, 563 N.W.2d 188 (Ct. App. 1997).

characteristics were also used. See **State v. King**, 215 Wis.2d 295,308, 572 N.W.2d 530 (Ct. App. 1997) and **State v. Jagodinsky**, 209 Wis.2d 577,584, 563 N.W.2d 188 (Ct. App.1997).

C. Trial court erred in failing to consider "all relevant circumstances" which supported inference of discrimination and in concluding that James did not establish a prima facie case.

The defendant must establish a prima facie case of discriminatory intent by showing that the prosecutor relied on race in exercising the peremptory strike. See **State v. King**, 215 Wis.2d at 300-301. The **Batson** Court held that a prima facie case can be made by offering a wide variety of evidence, so long as the totality of the relevant facts gives "rise to an *inference* of discriminatory purpose." **Johnson v. California**, 545 U.S. at 163. Italics added. "The Court did not intend the first step to be so onerous that a defendant would have to persuade the judge-on the basis of all the facts, some of which are impossible for the defendant to know with certainty-that the challenge was more likely than not the product of purposeful discrimination. Instead, a defendant satisfies **Batson**'s first step requirements by producing evidence sufficient to permit the trial court to draw an *inference* that discrimination has occurred." **Id**. Italics added.

The burden at the prima facie stage is low, requiring only circumstances raising a suspicion that discrimination occurred, even where those circumstances are insufficient to indicate that it is more likely than not that the challenges were used to discriminate. United States v. Stephens, 421 Italics added. The persuasiveness of the constitutional F.3d at 512. challenge is to be determined at the third Batson stage, not the first. See A trial court's "subjective" and "detailed Italics added. **id**. at 516. weighing of factors" offered by the government has no place in the prima facie determination and is reserved for **Batson's** second and third steps. An "inference" is generally understood to be a See **id**. at 517-518. conclusion reached by considering other facts and deducing a logical consequence from them. See id. at 168 citing Black's Law Dictionary 781 (7th ed. 1999). Among the circumstances relevant in making that determination, a pattern of strikes against jurors of a particular race may give rise to an inference of discrimination. **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 97. Such a pattern can be evident where a prosecutor uses peremptory challenges to eliminate all, or nearly all, members of a particular race. United States v. The **Batson** Court itself remarked that "total **Stephens**, 421 F.3d at 512. or seriously disproportionate exclusion of Negroes from jury venires...is discrimination." **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 93. In determining whether a pattern is present, courts have also considered whether a disproportionate number of peremptory strikes were exercised to exclude members of a particular cognizable group. **Id**. In establishing a prima facie case, a defendant may also rely on the "indisputable fact that (peremptory) challenges permit those inclined to discriminate to do so," **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 96, and the lack of any "apparent reason" within the record for the strike, **United States v. Stephens**, 421 F.3d at 517. Under **Batson**, a trial court is required to consider "all relevant circumstances" that give rise to an inference of discrimination. See **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 97. A trial court commits reversible error when it fails to do so. See **McGahee v. Alabama Department of Corrections**, 560 F.3d 1252,1266 (11th Cir. 2009).

In this case, the trial court erred both in its methodology used to analyze whether James established a prima facie and in its ultimate conclusion that James did not. Specifically, the trial court failed to consider "all relevant circumstances" that gave rise to an inference of discrimination. The trial court's analysis of the prima facie issue was terse both in terms of its length and content. The trial court's on record analysis of the entire **Batson**

motion comprised only 4 pages of transcript. A-Ap.120-124; 51:67-70. Of these 4 pages, the first two pages, A-Ap.120-121; 51:67-68, contained the trial court's summary of Batson's requirements. The trial court's actual analysis of the prima facie case issue consisted of only one and a half pages of transcript. A-Ap.122-123; 51:69-70. In such analysis, the trial court failed to consider pattern or statistical evidence regarding the State's elimination of a disproportionate number of African-American veniremembers, African-American males in particular, as well as the State's use of a disproportionate percentage of its strikes to exclude African-Americans, African-American males in particular. The closest the trial court came to considering the appropriate pattern or statistical evidence was in noting that by leaving two African-American females on the venire, the State allowed for a "significant percentage" of the total African-American venirepersons (2 of 6) who potentially could, and actually did, serve on the jury. A-Ap.123; 51:70. The trial court however failed to consider the more prominent pattern or statistics, as discussed more fully below, regarding the actual number or percentage of African-American veniremembers, African-American males in particular, that the State did eliminate, as well as the pattern and statistical evidence regarding the

State's disproportionate use of its strikes against African-Americans, again, African-American males in particular. The trial court also failed to consider that there was no evidence in the record to substantiate the State's claim that juror no. 14 presented a "reaction" during voir dire which led the State to believe that he was "potentially hostile." A-Ap.118, 51:65. Had the trial court properly considered such circumstances, the trial court could only have reasonably concluded that they established an inference of discrimination.

As to a prima facie case, James showed that the facts and relevant circumstances raised an *inference* that the prosecutor used peremptory strikes to exclude a venireperson on account of his race and/or gender. James, an African-American male, accomplished this first of all by demonstrating a racial and gender identity shared by himself and the veniremember excluded, juror no. 14, also an African-American male. A-Ap.114-115; 51:61,62. Next, James identified a pattern which consisted of the State's elimination of the majority of African-Americans on the venire (4 of 6), and an elimination of all the African-American males (4 of 4). A-Ap.114-116, 119-120; 51:61-63, 66-67. James additionally noted that the record did not reflect any "apparent reason" to which the strike of juror no.

14 could be attributed. A-Ap.114-115; 51:61-62. In terms of the pattern, although African-Americans comprised only 17% of the venire (6 of 35), by using challenges for cause or peremptory strikes, the State excluded 67% (4 of 6, juror nos. 6, 14, 21, and 22) of the African-Americans. Although African-American males comprised only 11% of the venire (4 of 35), the State excluded 100% of this group. These statistical facts alone established the requisite inference of discrimination. See United States v. **Bishop**, 959 F.2d 820,824 n.6 (9th Cir. 1992), reversed on other grounds, United States v. Nevils, 598 F.3d 1158 (9th Cir. 2010)(two of four black jurors striken supported inference); United States v. Power, 881 F.2d 733,740 (9th Cir. 1989)(one of two black jurors stricken supported inference); United States v. Alvarado, 923 F.2d 253,255 (2nd Cir. 1991)(four out of seven minority jurors stricken supported inference); **United States v. Battle**, 836 F.2d 1084,1085 (8th Cir. 1987)(five of seven black jurors stricken supported inference). Significantly, it is not dispositive that the State did not attempt to remove all the African-American venirepersons, specifically, the two female African-Americans who ultimately made it on to the jury. Regardless of the final racial makeup of the jury, the exclusion of a single minority juror on account of race constitutes a **Batson** violation. See **United States v. Bishop**, supra at 827; **United States v. Johnson**, 873 F.2d 1137,1137 (8th Cir. 1989); and **United States v. Stephens**, supra at 513, where government struck only 2 of 3 African-American venirepersons.

Beyond evidence of the basic pattern and disproportionate effect illustrated by the original number of African-American venirepersons in relation to the number of those who were ultimately eliminated, pattern and statistical evidence regarding disproportionate use of the State's peremptory strikes against African-Americans also supported an inference of discrimination. In this case, although African-Americans comprised only 17% of the venire (6 out of 35), African-Americans were the subject of 40% (2 out of 5) of the State's peremptory strikes. When we consider both cause and peremptory challenges, the disparity is even greater. In this regard, the State made four challenges for cause, two of which successfully eliminated African-Americans, juror nos. 6 and 22. Therefore of the nine total challenges made by the State, four were directed against African-American venirepersons. This means that although African-Americans comprised only 17% of the venire, they were the subject of 44% (4 of 9) of the State's total challenges. If we consider the pattern as to African-American males, the statistics are even more troubling. Although African-American males comprised just 11% of the venire (4 out of 35), they were the subject of 44% of the State's challenges. Again these statistical facts alone established the requisite inference of discrimination. See United States v. Alvarado, 923 F.2d at 255-256 (finding a prima facie case because the prosecution challenged 57 percent of the minority venirepersons who represented only 29 percent of the pool); United States v. Johnson, 873 F.2d at 1140(considering the disproportionate rate of strikes against blacks, 2 of 6, to be relevant evidence of discrimination); **Turner v. Marshall**, 63 F.3d 807,810 (9th Cir. 1995)(finding that although African-Americans comprised only 30 percent of the venire, (11 out of 37), government used 56 percent of its peremptory strikes against African-Americans supported inference of discrimination); and United States v. Stephens, 421 F.3d at 513, finding that government's use of 33% of its strikes against African-Americans who comprised less than 10% of the venire, supported inference of discrimination. Finally, in terms of the existence of any "apparent reason" within the record to which the strike could be attributed, there was none. During voir dire, juror no. 14's sole statements were as follows:

A JUROR: My name is Kevin (G). I'm on the north side. Single. Four kids from 25 to 18. I'm self-employed. Never been on a jury duty. Sports is my hobbies. 51:34.

THE COURT: What is your self-employment? 51:34.

A JUROR: I own a car wash detail shop. 51:34.

Other than the above exchange between juror no. 14 and the trial court, the record did not reflect any statement or other communication made by juror no. 14 during voir dire. Along with the "undisputable fact that peremptory challenges permit those inclined to discriminate, to do so," see **Batson**, 476 U.S. at 96, the absence of any "apparent reason" within the record, and the patterns discussed above, gave rise to the requisite *inference* of discrimination as to the State's strike of juror no. 14.

As specifically discussed above, the trial court erred in failing to consider "all relevant circumstances" which supported an inference of discrimination. Had the trial court properly considered all such relevant circumstances, it could only have reasonably concluded that such circumstances raised the requisite inference of discrimination. In concluding otherwise and ultimately concluding that James did not establish a prima facie case, the trial court erred.⁵

-

⁵ As discussed earlier, James maintains that the standard of review as to the prima facie case issue is de novo. See **United States v. Stephens**, 421 F.3d 50,5113 (7th Cir. 2005, **United States v. Jordan**, 223 F.3d 676,686 (7th Cir. 2000) and **Mehaffey v. Page**, 162 F.2d 481,484 (7th Cir. 1998). Nonetheless, James similarly maintains that the errors committed by the trial court, for the same reasons examined earlier in this brief, were clear, and therefore establish a basis for reversal even under a clearly erroneous standard.

D. The trial court clearly erred in accepting State's proffered reason for striking juror no. 14 because such reason was not "clear" and "reasonably specific."

Under **Batson**, once the defendant has established a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the State to come forward with a neutral explanation for challenging the dismissed venireperson. **State v. Lamon**, 2003 WI 78 at ¶29. The prosecutor's explanation must be "clear, reasonably specific and related to the case at hand." **Id**.

In this case, the State argued that it used a peremptory strike against juror no. 14 because juror no. 14 exhibited a "reaction" during that portion of the voir dire which discussed how jurors viewed police officers. A-Ap.117-118; 51:64-65. The State argued that based on juror no. 14's "reaction," it believed juror no.14 was "potentially hostile" and not disposed to listening to the State. A-Ap.118; 51:65. The State's explanation failed **Batson**'s second prong because it was not "clear" and "reasonably specific." While the prosecutor referenced a "reaction" by juror no. 14, the prosecutor failed to provide any detail whatsoever about the "reaction." There was no indication if the "reaction" was a statement, facial expression, gesture, or

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