RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

04-09-2015

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP2230-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

COURTNEY J. JAMES,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

CHRISTINE A. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1046171

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-8943 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) remingtonca@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly concluded that the State struck potential jurors for race neutral reasons.

A. Standard of review.

Whether a peremptory strike had discriminatory intent is a question of fact decided by the circuit court. *State v. Lamon*, 2003 WI 78, ¶ 41, 262 Wis. 2d 747, 664 N.W.2d 607. Like any other factual finding, this court gives great deference to the circuit court's conclusion on discriminatory intent. *Id.* The circuit court is in the best position to determine the credibility of the State's race neutral reason. *Id.* ¶ 42.

This court will only overturn a circuit court's finding on the issue of discriminatory intent if it was clearly erroneous. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 43. This standard applies to each step of the *Batson*² analysis. *Id.* ¶ 45. 3 *De novo* review is only available if the circuit court did not have an opportunity to evaluate credibility. *Id.* ¶ 46.

B. Legal principles.

The State has a right to exercise peremptory strikes for any reason related to the State's view of the case outcome. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 25. But it violates the Equal Protection Clause to "challenge potential jurors solely on account of their race or on the assumption that black jurors as a group will be unable impartially to consider the State's case against a black defendant." *Id.* (quoting *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 89 (1986)).

This court employs a three-step process for determining if the State's peremptory strikes violated the Equal Protection Clause. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 27. First, the defendant must make a prima facie showing of discriminatory intent by showing that: (1) he is a member of a cognizable group and that the State has exercised peremptory strikes to remove members of the defendant's race from the venire, and (2) the facts and relevant circumstances raise an inference that the State used peremptory strikes to exclude persons on account of their race. *Id.* ¶ 28.

Second, if the circuit court finds that the defendant has made a prima facie showing, then the burden shifts to the State to give a neutral explanation for challenging the dismissed person. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 29. The explanation must be "clear, reasonably specific, and related to the case at hand." *Id.* The explanation need not rise to the level of justifying exercise of a strike for cause. *Id.* The

² Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

³ James asserts that the standard of review is *de novo* and cites to *United States v. Stephens*, 421 F.3d 503, 511 (7th Cir. 2005), *United States v. Jordan*, 223 F.3d 676, 686 (7th Cir. 2000), and *Mehaffey v. Page*, 162 F.3d 481, 484 (7th Cir. 1998). James's brief at 17. Those decisions are not binding on this court. The supreme court's decision in *Lamon* is binding. The correct standard of review is for clear error. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 45.

explanation need not be persuasive or plausible. *Id.* \P 31. Even a silly or superstitious reason may satisfy the second step if it is facially nondiscriminatory. *Id.*

Third, the circuit court must weigh the credibility of the testimony and determine that the defendant has proven purposeful discrimination or that the State's explanations were a pretext for intentional discrimination. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, \P 32. Intuitive strikes have been upheld. *Id.* \P 33.

C. The circuit court's finding that the peremptory strikes were race neutral is not clearly erroneous.

James challenged the peremptory strikes of jurors at trial on the grounds that the strikes were impermissibly based on the potential jurors' race (51:62). The circuit court determined that James failed to make a prima facie showing that the strikes were exercised with discriminatory intent (51:68). The court went further and concluded that the State made the strikes for race neutral reasons (51:70).

First, in the circuit court, everyone agreed that James was an African-American and that the State excluded two African-Americans by peremptory strikes. But to make a prima facie showing, James also needed to show that the facts and relevant circumstances raised an inference that the State used peremptory strikes to exclude persons based on race. *See Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 28.

There was no pattern to indicate intent to eliminate all African-Americans from the jury pool. James implies that the strikes for cause of two African-American men played a role in this court's analysis. James's brief at 14. It does not. A juror is struck for cause if that juror is biased. *See State v. Faucher*, 227 Wis. 2d 700, 715, 596 N.W.2d 770 (1999). Exclusion of biased jurors is not only allowed, but required. *Id.* But the State cannot exclude otherwise unbiased jurors simply because of their race. *See Batson*, 476 U.S. at 97. The jurors struck from the jury for cause played no role in the analysis of whether the State's peremptory strikes were discriminatory.

The State used two of its five peremptory challenges to strike African-Americans from the jury pool (51:54, 62). But considering the

facts and relevant circumstances, it cannot be inferred that the strikes were made based on the race of the potential jurors. Juror 21 had stated that he believed that most police officers lie (51:20). Juror 21 said he could be fair, and the circuit court concluded that he was not biased (51:62-64). The State disagreed, and used one of its peremptory strikes on Juror 21. Based on those facts, James cannot show an inference that Juror 21's race was the reason for the strike. This court has previously held that negative feelings toward the police can be a justifiable reason to strike a potential juror. *See State v. Lopez*, 173 Wis. 2d 724, 730-31, 496 N.W.2d 617 (Ct. App. 1992).

That leaves only one of the five peremptory strikes—i.e. the State's strike of Juror 14—to even have the potential of being based on race. Given that the State struck one of the four remaining African-Americans, James did not show a discriminatory pattern by the State to allow the inference that the strike of Juror 14 was based on his race.

Contrary to James's citation to nonbinding decisions, statistical facts alone do not establish an inference of discrimination. *See* James's brief at 14. In Wisconsin, the relevant circumstances include any pattern of strikes against jurors of the defendant's race. *See Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 28. It is not whether a percentage of the strikes are used to strike African-American's in the jury pool. One strike is not a pattern.

James asserts that the circuit court failed to consider the disproportionate use of strikes against African-American men. James's brief at 12-13. Parties cannot discriminate in jury selection, whether based on race or on gender. *J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B.*, 511 U.S. 127, 140 (1994). The group "African-American men" are not a cognizable group. *Batson* and *J.E.B.* seek to keep the State from discriminating against a potential juror solely based on race or gender, but not both.

James fails to make a prima facie showing based on the facts that the strikes of Juror 14 and Juror 21 raised an inference that the strikes were intended to exclude panel members on account of their race. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 28. The strike of Juror 21 was based on comments about not trusting police. And the strike of Juror 14

while leaving three African-Americans in the jury pool does not show a pattern of racial discrimination.

Even if this court finds a prima facie showing of discriminatory intent, the State offered a race neutral reason for the strike. The circuit court's decision was not clearly erroneous.

During the discussion about whether police officers lie, the State believed that Jurors 2 and 14 agreed with Jurors 6, 21, and 22 that police officers often lie based on their reactions during that discussion (51:65). The State believed both were disposed to ignore the State and might be potentially hostile to the State (51:65). The State concluded that neither Juror 2 nor Juror 14 could be fair and impartial (51:65-66).

James argues that the State's proffered reason for the strike was not clear or reasonably specific. James's brief at 18. The State told the court that:

Juror number two is a white male, juror number 14 is an African-American male. Both of them had reactions during the discussions [about police trustworthiness], and I have never had a series of discussions like this about officers where so many individuals have had such blatantly hostile view of officers. I [have] never experienced that before.

Jurors number two and 14 had inclinations or had reactions that I view to be inclinations along those grounds. Oftentimes you will see that, and I believe that I did see this and it did appear that both of them appeared at least not—not disposed to listening to the State if not potentially hostile, and that was my reasoning for striking both of those.

(51:64-65).

The State's explanation was reasonably specific, clear, and related to the case. *See Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 29. James's argument that the State did not explain the juror's reactions should be rejected. The reactions are not captured by the trial transcript, and were not verbal. The State asked whether anyone had strong feelings about police officers. Although Jurors 2 and 14 did not raise their

hands, that does not mean that their reactions did not happen or that the State's description was not clear enough.

The reason this court gives circuit courts discretion is because the circuit court is in the best position to determine the credibility of the State's race neutral reason. *See Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 42. The transcript cannot capture facial expressions, gestures, or body language. The fact that there is no record in the transcript of any reaction does not mean that a reaction did not occur or that the prosecutor did not sense one. The circuit court accepted the State's explanation. That conclusion is not clearly erroneous.

The State offered a race neutral reason for the strike. "Unless discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutor's explanation, 'the reason offered will be deemed race neutral." *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 30 (quoting *Hernandez v. New York*, 500 U.S. 352, 360 (1991)). The disparate impact on African-Americans alone does not violate the principle of race neutrality. *Id*.

James argues that the State's reason needed to be "plausible" and "persuasive." James's brief at 20-23. But the State's reason "need not be 'persuasive or even plausible.'" *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 31 (quoting *Purkett v. Elem*, 514 U.S. 765, 768 (1995)). The reason does not have to make sense, and can be silly or superstitious. *Id.* The court observed that the State might have been wrong in its interpretation, but that is not the standard (51:70). The court believed that the State showed a nexus between concern based on officers testifying and strikes (51:70-71). The State's reason was not facially discriminatory and satisfies the second *Batson* step.

Contrary to James's assertion, this case is not like *Snyder v. Louisiana*, 552 U.S. 472 (2008). In *Snyder*, the State struck a potential juror because he "looked very nervous." *Snyder*, 552 U.S. at 478. Here, the State struck two jurors because they seemed to agree with other jurors that police were not trustworthy (51:65). The State's explanation was much more specific than that in *Snyder*. The court concluded that the State offered a race neutral reason (51:70). That conclusion was not clearly erroneous.

James argues that because the State did not move to strike the jurors for cause, the reaction must not have happened. James's brief

at 25-27. The State's reason for the peremptory strike does not need to rise to the level of a challenge for cause to be race neutral. *Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 31. The fact that the State did not challenge either juror for cause is irrelevant to the determination of whether the challenges violated James's equal protection rights.

Finally, James argues that since the State struck two jurors for the same reaction and only one was African-American, there was proof that the State's strike was pretextual and not race neutral. James's brief at 29. This argument must fail. The State explained that two men of two different races had the same reaction to a discussion regarding the trustworthiness of police officers. The State struck each man. The State's rational was race neutral because it applied equally to men of two different races.

Third, the circuit court considered the credibility of the testimony and determined that there was no purposeful discrimination (51:70-71). *See Lamon*, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 32. The court's conclusion that the State's reason for striking Juror 14 was racially neutral is not clearly erroneous. This court should affirm that conclusion.

CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this court affirm James's judgment of conviction.